IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI
NO. 2008-KA-00767-COA

KENYOUNG FAIR

APPELLANT

V.

FILED

SEP 10 2008

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS

George T. Holmes, MSB No. [REDACTED]

301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210

Jackson MS 39201

601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI
NO. 2008-KA-00767-COA

KENYOUNG FAIR

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE VERDICT OF GUILTY OF MURDER, AS OPPOSED TO MANSLAUGHTER, IS SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?
- ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION D-5?
- ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO PREEMPTIVELY DENY A HEAT OF PASSION MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Choctaw County, Mississippi where Kenyoung Fair was convicted of murder in a jury trial held February 20-21, 2008, with Honorable C. E. Morgan, III, Circuit Judge, presiding. Fair was sentenced to life imprisonment and is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

Some time near the middle of July 2007, the appellant, fourteen year old Kenyoung Fair, and his friend Darnell Moore, both from Weir, were in Ackerman, when they were accosted by several Ackerman teens for no reason other than they were from out of town. [T. 160-61, 167, 169-72, 174, 199-200, 218, 223-24, 227-28]. Kenyoung and Darnell

were bruised up from the fight. [T. 171]. About a week later there was some evidence of another confrontation. [T. 150, 163, 210].

In the afternoon of July 28, 2007, about a week after the second confrontation, some of the teenagers in Ackerman “got word” that the fellows from Weir were headed Ackerman. [T. 145, 164, 181-90, 215]. Through the grapevine, a group of about 12 to 15 Ackerman teens gathered, of all places, in front of the Friendship M B. Church on the corner of Magee and Pickle Avenues, in Ackerman. [T. 146-48, 204, 219]. This area was referred to as Millwood by the local witnesses. *Id.*

The Ackerman mob was ready to fight, and within a few minutes a green Ford Taurus drove up and stopped. [T. 146-47, 151-56, 159-61, 172-76, 198-99, 204, 208, 230-31]. As soon as the Taurus stopped, the Ackerman group approached the driver’s side. *Id.*

Kenyoung, and Darnell were in the green Ford Taurus which belong to Darnell, but was being driven by another friend Samuel Lee Dotson, Jr. [T. 172, 198, 230]. Kenyoung was the front passenger, and Darnell was in the back seat. [T. 172]. They were headed to Starkville from Weir. [T. 198-200]. Before getting on the road, Sam, who had been in Ackerman but who lived in Starkville, picked up a shotgun and pistol and put them in the car. [T. 172, 176, 198, 232]. Sam said he was taking the guns back home to Starkville. [T. 201]. According to Sam, Darnell and Kenyoung, there was no plan or intention of confronting the Ackerman teens. [T. 200, 203-04, 231]. Sam said he went to

Ackerman to pick someone up for a ride, but when they went past the Friendship M. B. Church, there was a crowd blocking the road, so he pulled over. *Id.*

There were confrontational words exchanged between Samuel Dotson and the Ackerman mob, quoted by the witnesses with little variance that went something like this: by the occupants of the Taurus, "We heard ya'll were looking for us." [T. 147, 159-61, 172-76, 182-84, 198-99, 204, 208, 230-31]. The Ackerman kids, Gerrodd Edwards, in particular, responded, "Get out of the car, we gonna whip ya'll's ass." *Id.* After seeing the shotgun in the Taurus, somebody, said "Dude's got a heater." *Id.* State witness Samuel Dotson said one of the Ackerman kids reached for the driver's door of the Taurus, then three or four shots from a saw-off shotgun came from inside the Taurus. *Id.*

Gerrodd Edwards took a direct hit in the back absorbing 36 number 4 buckshot pellets distributed throughout his body perforating several major organs. [T. 119, 127, 143]. Two other Ackerman teens were grazed, but uninjured. [T. 224]. Gerrodd was taken to the local hospital and eventually to a hospital in Memphis where he died about a week later on August 6, 2007, from infection and pneumonia. [T. 73-74, 119, 138-39].

Everyone agreed that Kenyoung Fair was the shooter and pointed the shotgun across the car out the driver's side where the Ackerman crew had gathered exchanging the threats and boasts with Sam the driver of the green Taurus. [T. 146-47, 159, 175, 183, 236]. Kenyoung said he thought he saw someone reaching under their shirt or in their

pants for a weapon, and since he did not want to get shot or beat up again, he yelled “get back” and shot three times, not at anyone in particular, “I was just shooting out the window” to get them to “get back” he said. [T. 231, 233-34, 236-37].

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This was a case of manslaughter, not murder. The jury was not fully instructed on manslaughter.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE VERDICT OF GUILTY OF MURDER, AS OPPOSED TO MANSLAUGHTER, IS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE?

Kenyoung Fair’s motion for JNOV for a manslaughter verdict notwithstanding the murder conviction should have been granted based on the theory of “imperfect self-defense” as set out in *Wade v. State*, 748 So. 2d 771, 773-76 (Miss.1999). In *Wade*, the defendant was charged with killing her boyfriend with whom she was in business as co-owners of a bar. As in the present case, in *Wade*, there was testimony of previous violence. Wade’s boyfriend had been physically abusive to her. *Id.*

Here the Ackerman kids had attacked Kenyoung Fair and Darnell Moore twice, when they were outnumbered. [T. 160-61, 167, 169-72, 174, 199-200, 218, 223-24, 227-28]. On the day of the shooting here, they were outnumbered again. [T. 146-48, 198-99,

204, 219].

On the day of the killing in *Wade*, the boyfriend became abusive, Wade went and retrieved a gun and said, “You ain’t gonna hit me no more”, the boyfriend moved toward Wade and she shot him. In the present case, the Ackerman mob made verbal threats, coupled with aggressive gestures, including, reaching for the door of the Taurus and putting their hands under their clothes as if to retrieve a weapon. [T. 156, 159, 166, 198-99, 221, 233-34].

In *Wade*, the Supreme Court stated that Wade was angered by “what appeared to be a renewed attack”, and so Wade’s case “clearly was a killing in the heat of passion and arguably a case of imperfect self defense, and as such, manslaughter was the appropriate verdict. 748 So. 2d at 773.

The important conclusion of the court in *Wade* was that there was insufficient evidence of “malicious intent”; and, the same can be said of Kenyoung Fair’s situation, as any “ill will”, was engendered by past physical attacks, and by what appeared to be a new attack by the Ackerman clan. *Id.* at 774. The similarities between *Wade* and present facts require the same result here.

The Supreme Court described the theory of “imperfect self-defense” reducing murder to manslaughter as “an intentional killing ... done without malice but under a bona fide (but unfounded) belief that it was necessary to prevent great bodily harm.” *Id.* at 775. See also *Lanier v. State*, 684 So. 2d 93, 97 (Miss.1996). This language is definitely “on

all fours” here.

Under this issue, the Court is asked to grant a new trial or to reduce Kenyoung Fair’s conviction to manslaughter as defined in MCA §§ 97-3-31 (unnecessary killing while resisting unlawful act), or 97-3-35 (heat of passion), or 97-3-47 (culpable negligence) (1972). In this case, all of the evidence shows that Kenyoung Fair acted on impulse without any premeditation whatsoever.

“Ordinarily, whether such a slaying is indeed murder or manslaughter is a question for the jury.” *Windham v. State*, 520 So. 2d 123, 127 (Miss. 1988). However, the Supreme Court has reversed jury verdicts of murder on more than one occasion remanding for sentencing only for manslaughter, including *Williams v. State*, 729 So. 2d 1181, 1186 (Miss. 1998).

In *Dedeaux v. State*, 630 So. 2d 30, 31-33, (Miss. 1993) the court reviewed the facts of a barroom shooting where the Defendant was charged and convicted of murder for shooting his girlfriend’s husband. Similar to this case, there was ongoing animosity. *Id.* The defendant Dedeaux shot the victim three times, twice while the victim was moving toward him, and a third time as the victim lay on the ground. *Id.*

Even though the defense did not request a manslaughter instruction in the *Dedeaux* case, the Supreme Court found that the facts only supported a conviction for manslaughter because “this clearly was a killing in the heat of passion” even though a “greater amount of force than necessary under the circumstances” was used. *Id.* The

Dedeaux court reversed the murder conviction and remanded the case for re-sentencing for the crime of manslaughter. 630 So. 2d 31-33.

In *Tait v. State*, 669 So. 2d 85, 86-88 (Miss. 1996), the defendant was indicted for depraved heart murder and convicted. He appealed on weight and sufficiency and that the conviction should have been manslaughter by culpable negligence. Several young men were joking and horsing around with a gun. The defendant put the gun to the victim's head and it went off. The Supreme Court ruled that the only proper verdict supported by the evidence was for manslaughter by culpable negligence. *Id.* at p 90. The *Tait* facts are analogous here in that there was no evidence of premeditation. In *Tait* there was horseplay, here there was previous physical violence and the appearance of renewed animosity.

**ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING
REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION D-5?**

Kenyoung Fair admitted pulling the trigger on the shotgun blasts that ultimately killed Gerrodd Edwards. The state's theory was that the killing was either deliberate design or depraved heart murder. Fair's defense was that the homicide was manslaughter, not murder.

The trial court here made a preemptive ruling that a heat-of-passion manslaughter instruction was not going to be given. [T. 260-61]. However, a culpable negligence instruction manslaughter instruction, D-7, was granted. [R. 54; T. 264].

To inform the jury as to the difference between deliberate design murder and culpable negligence, Fair requested instruction D-5, which was refused:

The Court instructs the jury that while malice aforethought is a necessary element of the crime of murder, it does not follow therefrom that the existence of actual malice at the time of the slaying would necessarily have the effect of rendering a particular homicide a case of murder. A person may be guilty only of manslaughter or justifiable homicide when slaying another even though the accused is mad or bearing ill will toward his adversary at the time of the killing, if the act is done while resisting an attempt of the latter to do any unlawful act, or after such attempt shall have failed, if such anger or ill will is engendered by the particular circumstances of the unlawful act then being attempted, or the commission of which is thwarted, and in non-existent prior thereto. To constitute murder, the malice must precede the unlawful act which is being attempted or committed by the person killed, where the killing is done in resisting his attempt to do an [un]lawful act. [R. 59, T. 260-61].

It is the appellant's position that D-5, being an accurate statement of the law and having an evidentiary foundation, was a proper and necessary instruction. As will be shown, it was reversible error not to grant a heat of passion instruction as well as D-5.

In *Russell v. State*, 789 So. 2d 779, 780 (Miss. 2001), the Supreme Court reversed a murder conviction, where a manslaughter instruction was given, but the jury was not adequately instructed as to the definition of malice aforethought with an instruction similar to D-5 here.

In *Williams v. State*, 729 So. 2d 1181, 1186 (Miss. 1998), the Court reiterated that "it is possible for a deliberate design to exist and the slaying nevertheless be no greater than manslaughter." In *Williams*, the defendant had joined with several other defendants

in the beating death of the victim for no apparent reason and Williams was convicted of murder, the Supreme Court reversed on grant of certiorari, in part, because the trial court failed when requested to instruct the jury on differentiating between malice aforethought and deliberate design in an instruction similar to D-5 here. *Id.*

Under both *Russell* and *Williams*, supra, the learned trial court should have granted D-5, and not to do so was reversible error.

**ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER IT WAS ERROR FOR THE TRIAL COURT TO
PREEMPTIVELY DENY A HEAT OF PASSION
MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION?**

It is axiomatic that a defendant is entitled to have his or her jury fully and properly instructed on theories of defense for which there is a factual basis in evidence. *Green v. State*, 884 So. 2d 733, 735-38 (Miss. 2004). *Windham v. State*, 520 So. 2d 123, 127 (Miss. 1988). “[I]f there is any evidence which would support a conviction of manslaughter, an instruction on manslaughter should be given.” *Graham v. State*, 582 So.2d 1014, 1018 (Miss. 1991). *Roberts v. State*, 458 So.2d 719, 720 (Miss.1984).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has defined “heat of passion” as:

... a state of violent and uncontrollable rage engendered by a blow or certain other provocation given, which will reduce a homicide from the grade of murder to that of manslaughter. Passion or anger suddenly aroused at the time by some immediate and reasonable provocation, by words or acts of one at the time. The term includes an emotional state of mind characterized by anger, rage, hatred, furious resentment or terror. *Mullins v. State*, 493 So. 2d 971, 974 (Miss. 1986).

A person may form an intent to kill from a sudden passion induced by insult, provocation or injury from another. In that moment of passion, while still enraged, if he slays the other person, the homicide may be manslaughter, even though it is not in necessary self-defense, depending upon the insult, provocation or injury causing the anger. Ordinarily, whether such a slaying is indeed murder or manslaughter is a question for the jury. *Windham v. State*, 520 So. 2d 123, 127 (MS 1988).

The law of what is manslaughter in Mississippi has been consistently characterized as “liberal” and the courts have made “considerable allowance for the frailties of human passion.” *Id.*

In determining whether a lesser included instruction is required, the trial court must look at “the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused, and considering all reasonable favorable inferences which may be drawn in favor of the accused from the evidence...” *Graham v. State*, 582 So. 2d 1014, 1017 (Miss. 1991) citing *Gates v. State*, 484 So. 2d 1002, 1004 (Miss. 1986).