IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

KENYOUNG FAIR

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-KA-0767-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JEFFREY A. KLINGFUSS
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The grand jury of Choctaw County indicted defendant, Ken Young Fair with Murder in violation of *Miss. Code Ann.* § 97-3-19. (Indictment, cp.4). After a trial by jury, Judge C. E. Morgan, III, presiding, the jury found defendant guilty of Murder. (C.p.60). Defendant was sentenced to LIFE in the custody of Mississippi Department of Corrections. (Judgement & Sentence order, cp. 64).

After denial of post-trial motions this instant appeal was timely noticed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The statement of facts presented by counsel for defendant is quite adequate and nicely cites relevant facts in the record.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND ALTERNATIVELY WITHOUT MERIT IN FACT AND LAW.

The legal theory of 'imperfect self-defense' was never presented or argued to the trial court for a ruling. Consequently, such an issue raised on appeal is procedurally barred from review. Alternatively, defendant was not entitled to a heat of passion manslaughter instruction since he armed himself before going to the scene.

TT.

THE JURY WAS ADEQUATELY INSTRUCTED ON DELIBERATE DESIGN AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING PROFFERED INSTRUCTION D-5.

The jury was adequately instructed on the elements by the court's and the State's instructions.

III.

DEFENDANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A 'HEAT OF PASSION' MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION.

There was no evidence supporting a heat of passion jury instruction.

ARGUMENT

I.

THIS ISSUE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND ALTERNATIVELY WITHOUT MERIT IN FACT AND LAW.

In this initial allegation of error defendant asserts he was denied an instruction which would have given the jury a chance to find him guilty of manslaughter based upon a theory of imperfect self-defense.

The problem is, this is the first time that idea has been brought to the attention of anyone. It wasn't mentioned at trial, in discussion for jury instructions, during voir dire or presented to the judge. This is totally new and as such is procedurally barred as not having been presented to the trial court for consideration.

¶ 12... We note at the outset that Neese does not mention the Weathersby rule in his posttrial motion. It is well established that "questions will not be decided upon appeal which were not presented to the trial court and that court given an opportunity to rule on them...." Fleming v. State, 604 So.2d 280, 293 (Miss.1992) (quoting Colburn v. State, 431 So.2d 1111, 1113-14 (Miss.1983)). Thus, this issue is procedurally barred for failure to present it to the trial court.

Neese v. State, 2008 WL 4560221 (Miss.App. 2008).

Just as in *Neese*, there is no mention of 'imperfect self-defense' in the motion for new trial. Accordingly, this issue is procedurally barred.

Without waiving any procedural bar to review this issue is, alternatively, without merit in fact and law.

¶24. Further, imperfect self-defense is where "an intentional killing may

be considered manslaughter if done without malice but under a bona fide (but unfounded) belief that it was necessary to prevent death or great bodily harm." Smiley v. State, 815 So.2d 1140, 1146(¶ 22) (Miss.2002) (quoting Wade v. State, 748 So.2d 771, 775(¶ 12) (Miss.1999)).

¶ 25. Therefore, there must be evidence present in the record that would have supported a manslaughter instruction if Beale's contention that the trial court improperly denied the instruction is to be found meritorious. Under the facts presented in the record, Beale admitted kicking in the door to Taylor's apartment. Beale also admitted to hitting Taylor in the head with a nine-millimeter gun upon entering her home, knocking her unconscious for a short period of time. After knocking Taylor unconscious, Beale admitted to spotting Thomas in the bedroom, but he claimed that Thomas pulled a gun on him, forcing him to resort to self-defense by shooting Thomas. However, the gun Thomas was alleged to have brandished was never presented at trial. Beale claimed that he threw out the gun while driving to his uncle's home after the shooting. Further, Beale testified at trial that when he entered the apartment he only had intentions of talking to Taylor. There was no evidence presented that words were exchanged between Taylor and Beale once Beale entered the home. Testimony established that Beale hit Taylor very quickly upon entering her home. Under these facts, this Court cannot say the trial court erred in failing to grant a heat-of-passion or an imperfect self-defense manslaughter instruction. Therefore, we affirm the trial court's denial of the manslaughter instructions.

Beale v. State, 2008 WL 4140084 (Miss.App. 2008).

Defendant Fair went to the scene armed and sat rather detached in the confines of the car. This is quite similar to the scenario of *Beale* where defendant went to the scene armed and killed someone. This case, too is not an imperfect self-defense.

Therefore, not only is this issue procedurally barred it is alternatively without merit in fact and law. No relief should be granted on this allegation of trial court

THE JURY WAS ADEQUATELY INSTRUCTED ON DELIBERATE DESIGN AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING PROFFERED INSTRUCTION D-5.

Defendant next avers the trial court erred in denying proffered instruction D-5 (c.p. 59). A close reading of the discussion when proffered would lend one to believe the trial court didn't grant the instruction because it was already adequately covered by the State's instruction on deliberate design. Tr. 260-61.

"[T]he trial court is not required to grant several instructions on the same question in different verbiage." Sproles, 815 So.2d at 454(¶ 9) (citing Ragan v. State, 318 So.2d 879, 882 (Miss.1975)).

Dobbs v. State, 936 So.2d 322, 324 (Miss. 2006).

The State's instruction (c.p. 47 & 48), coupled with the court's instruction at c.p. 46, adequately covered the distinctions between 'malice aforethought' and 'deliberate design' and self-defense. The jury was clearly and succinctly instructed on the law and the proffered instruction D-5 was repetitive and unnecessary. There was no error in the trial court's denial of the instruction.

No relief should be granted on this allegation of error.

III.

DEFENDANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO A 'HEAT OF PASSION' MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION.

Defendant lastly argues he was entitled to a 'heat of passion 'instruction as a matter of law. Interestingly, he would be entitled to such if there were evidence to support such an instruction. Telling is the fact that none are cited in this allegation of error.

It is actually quite horrifying to read the transcript and reasonable inferences therefrom. *Johnson v. State*, 956 So.2d 358 (¶14)(Miss.App. 2007). These young men (and they were very young) fourteen years old and in the 6th grade, armed with multiple weapons essentially roamed the streets in search of their targets. The defendant, sat in the auto and while words, mere words were exchanged he made sure he got the last, and ultimate say so. He shot, blindly (he says), three times into a group of people, killing one, injuring more.

To be sure and without equivocation a 'heat of passion' instruction is not, should not, and as quite correctly NOT granted. There was no evidence, none. In point of fact, all of defendant's own testimony was slanted to self-defense. There was no mention of anger, emotion or heat of passion.

Or, as the jury found, murder. Calculated. Deliberate.

The trial judge was correct. No relief should be granted based on this

allegation of error.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the arguments presented herein as supported by the record on appeal and exhibits, the State would ask this reviewing court to affirm the verdict of the jury and sentence of the trial court.